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BILL LOCIZYER, Attorney General 
of the State of California 

JAMES M. LEDAKIS, State Bar No. 132645 
Deputy Attorney General 

California Depminlent of Justice 
110 West "A" Street, Suite 1100 
San Diego, CA 92101 

P.O. Box 85266 
San Diego, CA 92186-5266 
Telephone: (619) 645-2105 
Facshnile: (619) 645-2061 

Attorneys for Complainant 

BEFORE THE 
BOARD OF PHARMACY 

DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

In the Matter of the Accusation Against: 

ELSHAER, ATEF MOHAMED 
1639 Regulus Street 
San Diego, CA 92111 

License No. RPH 50303 

Respondent. 

Case No. Administrative Case No. 2454 

OAR No. L-2001120413 

STIPULATED SETTLEMENT AND 
DISCIPLINARY ORDER 

IT IS HEREBY STIPULATED AND AGREED by and between the parties to the 

above-entitled proceedings that the following matters are true: 

·PARTIES 

1. Patricia F. Harris (Complainant) is the Executive Officer of the Board of 

Phm'lnacy. She brought this action solely in her official capacity and is represented in tIns ll1atier 

by Bill Lockyer, Attorney General of the State of California, by Jmnes M. Ledakis, Deputy 

Attorney General. 

2. Respondent ELSHAER, ATEF MOHAMED (Respondent) is represented 

in this proceeding by attorney Roland J. Haddad, whose address is 8844 La Mesa Blvd., La 

Mesa, CA 91941, 

3. On or about September 2, 1998, the Board of Phannacy issued License 

No. RPH 50303 to ELSHAER, ATEF M9HAMED (Respondent). The License was in full force 
i 
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and effect at all tilnes relevant to the charges brought in Accusation No. 2454 and will expire on 

March 31, 2002, unless renewed. 

JURISDICTION 

4. Accusation No. Adlninistrative Case No. 2454 was filed before the Board 

of Phannacy (Board), Departlnent of Consulner Affairs, and is currently pending against 

Respondent. The Accusation and all other statutorily required documents were properly served 

on Respondent on November 26,2001. Respondent ti1nely filed his Notice of Defense 

contesting the Accusation. A copy of Accusation No. 2454 is attached as exhibit A and 

incorporated herein by reference. 

ADVISEMENT AND WAIVERS 

5. Respondent has carefully read, fully discussed with counsel, and 

understands the charges and allegations in Accusation No. 2454. Respondent has also carefully 

read, fully discussed with counsel, and understands the effects of this Stipulated Settlement and 

Disciplinary Order. 

6. Respondent is fully aware of his legal rights in this nlatter, including the 

right to a hearing on the charges and allegations in the Accusation; the right to be represented by 

counsel at his own expense; the right to confront and cross-eXatlline the witnesses against hitn; 

the right to present evidence and to testify on his own behalf; the right to the issuance of 

subpoenas to cOlnpel the attendance of witnesses atld the production of documents; the right to 

reconsideration and cou1i review of an adverse decision; and all other rights accorded by the 

California Ad1ninistrative Procedure Act and other applicable laws. 

7. Respondent voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently waives atld gives up 

each and every right set f01ih above. 

CULP ABILITY 

8. Respondent admits the truth of each and every charge and allegation in 

Accusation No. 2454. 

9. Respondent agrees that his License is subject to discipline and he agrees to 

be bound by the Boat'd's itnposition of discipline as set forth in the Disciplinary Order below. 
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CONTINGENCY 


10. This stipulation shall be subject to approval by the Board of Pharmacy. 

Respondent understands and agrees that counsel for Complainant and the staff of the Board of 

Phannacy Inay COInInunicate directly with the Board regarding this stipulation and settlement, 

without notice to or participation by Respondent or his counsel. By signing the stipulation, 

Respondent understands and agrees that he may not withdraw his agreelnent or seek to rescind 

the stipulation prior to the thne the Board considers and acts upon it. If the Board fails to adopt 

this stipulation as its Decision and Order, the Stipulated Settlement and Disciplinary Order shall 

be of no force or effect, except for this paragraph, it shall be inadmissible in any legal action 

between the parties, and the Board shall not be disqualified frOln further action by having 

considered this Inatter. 

11. The parties understand and agree that facsimile or other copies of this 

Stipulated Settielnent and Disciplinary Order, including the signatures thereto, shall have the 

satne force and effect as the originals. 

12. In consideration of the foregoing adInissions and stipulations, the parties 

agree that the Board Inay, without further notice or fonnal proceeding, issue and enter the 

following Disciplinary Order: 

DISCIPLINARY ORDER 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that License No. RPH 50303 issued to Respondent 

ELSHAER, ATEF MOHAMED is revoked. However, the revocation is stayed and Respondent 

is placed on probation for five (5) years on the following tenns and conditions. 

1. Actual Suspension - Pharmacist. As part of probation, Respondent is 

suspended fronl the practice ofphannacy for one hundred atld twenty days (120) beghming the 

effective date of this decision. 

During suspension, Respondent shall not enter any pharmacy area or atly portion 

of the licensed prelnises of a wholesaler, Inedical device retailer or any other distributor of dlUgS 

which is licensed by the Board, or any nlanufacturer, or where dangerous drugs, controlled 

substances or legend drugs are nlaintained. Respondent shall not practice pharmacy nor do atly 
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act involving drug selection, selection of stock, manufacturing, compounding, dispensing or 

patient consultation; nor shall Respondent Inanage, administer, or be a consultant to any licensee 

of the Board, or have access to or control the ordering, nlanufacturing or dispensing of dangerous 

drugs or controlled substances of dangerous dnlgs or controlled substances. Respondent shall 

not direct or control any aspect of the practice of pharmacy. Subject to the above restrictions, 

Respondent may continue to own or hold an interest in any pharmacy in which he or she holds an 

interest at the tilne this decision becolnes effective. 

2. Obey All Laws. Respondent shall obey all federal and state laws and 

regulations substantially related or governing the practice of pharmacy. 

3. Reporting to the Board. Respondent shall report to the Board or its 

designee quarterly. The repoli shall be Inade either in person or in writing, as directed. If the 

final probation report is not made as directed, probation shall be extended automatically until 

such tilne as the final repoli is Inade. 

4. Interview with the Board. Upon receipt of reasonable notice, 

Respondent shall appear in person for interviews with the Board or its designee upon request at 

various intervals at a location to be deternlined by the Board or its designee. Failure to appear 

for a scheduled interview without prior notification to Board staff shall be considered a violation 

of probation. 

5. Cooperation with Board Staff. Respondent shall cooperate with the 

Board's inspection program and in the Board's monitoring and investigation of the Respondent's 

cOlnpliance with the ternlS and conditions of his probation. Failure to cooperate shall be 

considered a violation of probation. 

6. Continuing Education. Respondent shall provide evidence of efforts to 

maintain skill and I010wledge as a pharmacist as directed by the Board. 

7. Notice to Employers. Respondent shall notify all present and prospective 

employers of the decision in case No. 2454 and the tenns, conditions and restrictions hnposed on 

Respondent by the decision. Within thirty (30) days of the effective date of this decision, and 

within fifteen (15) days of Respondent undertaking new employment, Respondent shall cause his 
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elTIployer to report to the Board in writing acknowledging the elTIployer has read the decision in 

case No. 2454. 

If Respondent works for or is employed by or tlu'ough a pharmacy emploYlnent 

service, Respondent Inust notify the pharmacist-in-charge and/or owner at every pharmacy at 

which he is to employed or used of the fact and terms of the decision in case number 2454 in 

advance of the Respondent cOIIDnencing work at the pharmacy. 

"Employnlent" within the nleaning of this provision shall include any full-time, 

part-tinle, telnporary or relief service or phannacy managelnent service as a pharmacist, whether 

the Respondent is considered an employee or independent contractor. 

8. No Preceptorships, Supervision of Interns, Being Pharmacist-in-

Charge. Respondent shall not supervise any intern phannacist or perfonn any of the duties of a 

preceptor, nor shall Respondent be the pharnlacist-in-charge of any phannacy licensed by the 

Board. 

9. Reimbursement of Board Costs. Respondent shall pay to the Board its 

costs of investigation and prosecution in the atnount of$3,146.00. Respondent may Inake said 

paynlents in anlounts and times to be arratlged with the Board atld cOlnpleted six lTIonths before 

the end of his probation. If Respondent fails to pay the costs as specified by the Board and on or 

before the date(s) detennined by the Board, the Board shall, without affording the Respondent 

notice and the opportunity to be heard, revoke probation and carry out the disciplinary order that 

was stayed. 

10. Probation Monitoring Costs. Respondent shall pay the costs associated 

with probation Inonitoring as determined by the Board each atld every year of probation. Such 

costs shall be payable to the Board at the end of each year of probation. Failure to pay such costs 

shall be considered a violation of probation. 

11. Status of License. Respondent shall, at all times while on probation, 

ll1aintain an active current license with the Board, including any period during which suspension 

or probation is tolled. If Respondent's license expires by operation of law or otherwise, upon 

renewal or re-application, Respondent's license shall be subject to all terms of this probation not 
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previously satisfied. 

Respondent shall, at all tilnes while on probation, Inaintain an current license with 

the Board. If Respondent sublnits an application to the Board, and the application is approved, 

for a change of location, change or pennit or change of ownership, the Board shall retain 

continuing jurisdiction over the license, and the Respondent shall remain 011 probation as 

determined by the Board or its designee. 

12. License Surrender While on Probation/Suspension. Following the 

effective date of this decision, should respondent cease practice due to retirement or health, or be 

otherwise unable to satisfy the tenns and conditions of probation, respondent lnay tender his or 

her license to the board for sUlTender. The board shall have the discretion whether to grant the 

request for surrender or take any other action it deelns appropriate and reasonable. Upon formal 

acceptance of the surrender of the license, respondent will no longer be subj ect to the tenns and 

conditions of probation. 

Upon acceptance of the surrender, respondent shall relinquish his or her pocket 

license to the board within 10 days of notification by the board that the surrender is accepted. 

Respondent lnay not reapply for any license from the board for three years froln the effective 

date of the surrender. Respondent shallineet all requirelnents applicable to the license sought as 

of the date the application for that license is sublnitted to the board. 

13 . Notification of EmploymentlMailing Address Change. Respondent 

shall notify the board in writing within 10 days of any change of elnploYlnent. Said notification 

shall include the reasons for leaving and/or the address of the new elnployer, supervisor or owner 

and work schedule if known. Respondent shall notify the board in writing within 10 days of a 

change in nan1e, Inailing address or phone number. 

14. Tolling of Probation. Respondent shall work at least 40 hours in each 

calendar Inonth as a phannacist and at least an average of 80 hours per Inonth in any six 

consecutive n10nths. Failure to do so will be a violation of probation. If respondent has not 

con1plied with this condition during the probationary tenn, and respondent has presented 

sufficient docun1entation of his or her good faith efforts to comply with this 
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condition, and if no other conditions have been violated, the board, in its discretion, may grant an 

extension of respondent's probation period up to one year without further hearing in order to 

cOlnply with this condition. 

15. Tolling of Suspension. If Respondent leaves Califonlia to reside or 

practice outside this state for any period exceeding ten (l0), days (including vacation), 

Respondent must notify the Board in writing of the dates of departure and return. Periods of 

residency or practice outside the state - or any absence exceeding a period of ten (10) days shall 

not apply to the reduction of the suspension period. 

Respondent shall not practice pharnlacy upon returning to tIns state until 

notification by the Board the period of suspension has been completed. 

16. Violation of Probation. If Respondent violates probation in any respect, 

the Board, after giving Respondent notice and an opportunity to be heard, Inay revoke probation 

and carry out the disciplinary order which was stayed. If a petition to revoke probation or an 

accusation is filed against Respondent during probation, the Board shall have continuing 

jurisdiction, and the period of probation shall be extended, until the petition to revoke probation 

is heard and decided. If a Respondent has not complied with any tenn or condition of probation, 

the Board shall have continuing jurisdiction over Respondent, and probation shall automatically 

be extended until all ternlS and conditions have been Inet or the Board has taken other action as 

deeined appropriate to treat the failure to cOlnply as a violation of probation, to tenninate 

pro bation, and to ilnpose the penalty which was stayed. 

17. Completion of Probation. Upon successful completion of probation, 

Respondent's license will be fully restored. 

18. Adoption of Stipulation. It is understood that, in deciding whether to 

adopt this stipulation, the Board may receive oral and written presentation froln, and make 

inquiries of, cOlnplainant, Ins attorneys, the Board's attorneys, consulting experts, and the Board's 

enforcement cOlnlnittee. 

/ 

/ 
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19. Rehabilitation Program. Within 30 days of the effective date of this 

decision, respondent shall contact the Pharmacists Recovery Program (PRP) for evaluation and 

shall successfully participate in and cOlnplete the treatment contract and any subsequent 

addendulns as recolnmended and provided by the Pharmacy Recovery Program and as approved 

by the board. The costs for PRP participation shall be borne by the respondent. 

If respondent is currently enrolled in the PRP, said participation is now mandatory 

and is no longer considered a self-referral under Business and Professions Code section 4363, as 

of the effective date of this decision. Respondent shall successfully participate in and complete 

his or her current contract and any subsequent addendums with the PRP. Probation shall be 

autolnatically extended until respondent successfully cOlnpletes his or her treatlnent contract. 

Any person tenninated fronl the prograln shall be autonlatically suspended upon notice by the 

board. Respondent Inay not reSUlne the practice of phannacy until notified by the board in 

writing. The board shall retain jurisdiction to institute action to tenninate probation for any 

violation of this ternl. 

Respondent shall not resume the practice of a pharmacist until the Pharmacy 

Recovery Progranl has detennined that respondent can practice safely. 

20. Random Fluid Testing. Respondent, at his or her own expense, shall 

paliicipate in randonl testing, including but not lilnited to biological fluid testing (urine, 

blood), Breathalyzer, hair follicle testing, or a drug screening progranl approved by the board. 

The length oftilne shall be for the entire probation period and the frequency of testing will be 

detennined by the board. At all titnes respondent shall fully cooperate with the board, and shall, 

when directed, subnlit to such tests and samples for the detection of alcohol, narcotics, hypnotics, 

dangerous drugs or other controlled substances. Failure to submit to testing as directed shall 

constitute a violation of probation. Any confirmed positive drug test shall result in the 

inl1nediate revocation of practice by respondent. 

21. Abstain From Drug Use. Respondent shall cOlnpletely abstain from the 

possession or use of controlled substances, dangerous drugs and their associated paraphernalia 

except when the drugs are lawfully prescribed by a licensed practitioner as part of a documented 
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/ 

/ 

medical treatlnent. Upon request of the board, respondent shall provide documentation from the 

licensed practitioner that the prescription was legithnately issued and is a necessary part of the 

treatlnent of the respondent. 

22. Supervised Practice. Respondent shall practice only under the 

supervision of a phannacist not on probation with the board. Respondent shall not practice until 

the supervisor is approved by the board. The supervision shall be, as required by the board, 

either: 

Continuous - 75% to 100% of a work week 

Substantial - At least 50% of a work week 

Pmiial - At least 25% of a work week 

Daily Review - Supervisor's review of probationer's daily 

activities within 24 hours 

Within 30 days of the effective date of this decision, respondent shall have his or her 

supervisor sublnit notification to the board in writing stating the supervisor has read the decision 

in case nlunber and is fanliliar with the level of supervision as deternlined by the board. 

If respondent changes elnploYlnent, respondent shall have his or her new supervisor, 

within 15 days after elnploYlnent comlnences, subnlit notification to the board in writing stating 

the direct supervisor and phannacist-in-charge have read the decision in this case mld is fmniliar 

with the level of supervision as detennined by the board. Within 10, days of leaving 

enlploYlnent, respondent shall notify the board in writing. 

23. No Ownership of Premises. Respondent shall not own, have any legal 

or beneficial interest in, or serve as a Inanager, adlninistrator, melnber, officer, director, 

associate, or partner of any business, finn, pminership, or corporation currently or hereinafter 

licensed by the Board. Respondent shall sell or transfer any legal or beneficial interest in any 

entity licensed by the Board within 90 days following the effective date of tIns decision and shall 

ilrunediately thereafter provide written proof thereof to the Board. 

9 
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ACCEPTANCE 

I have carefully read the above Stipulated Settlement and Disciplinary Order and 

have 1:ully discussed it with my attorney, Roland J. Haddad. I understand the stipulation and the 

effect it will have on my License. I enter into this Stipulated Settlement and Disciplinary Order 

voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently, and agree to be bound by the Decision and. Order of the 

Board of Phannacy. 

DATED: _'i - j'-;" ~ 2

t A A.d"L.~'J. ''-J¥J. 

dent 
c.--- 

r have read and fully discussed with Respondent ELSHAER. A TEF MOHAMED 

the tenns and conditions and other matters contained in the above Stipulated Settlement and 

Disciplinary Order. I approve its form and content. 

DATED: 3' - -5-- CJ Z

ENDQRSEMENT 

The foregoing Stipulated Settlement and Disciplinary Order is hereby respectfully 

submitted for consideration by the Board of Pharmacy of the Department of Consumer Affairs. 

DATED: 

10 
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BEFORE THE 

,BOARD OF PHARMACY 


DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA 


In the Matter of the Accusation Against: 

ELSHAER, ATEF MOHAMED 
1639 Regulus Street 
San Diego, CA 92111 

License No. RPH 50303 

Respondent. 

Case No. Administrative Case No. 2454 

OAH No. L-2001120413 

DECISION AND ORDER 

The attached Stipulated Settlelnent and Disciplinary Order is hereby adopted by 

the Board ofPhannacy, Departnlent of Consunler Affairs, as its Decision in this matter. 

This Decision shall beCOlne effective on May 23, 2002 

It is so ORDERED .. Apr; 1 23, 2002 

BOARD OF PHARMACY 
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

By: 
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BILL LOCKYER, Attorney General 
of the State of California 

JAMES M. LEDAKIS, State Bar No. 132645 
DEPUTY ATTORNEY GENERAL 

California Department of Justice 
110 West "A" Street, Suite 1100 
San Diego, California 92101 

P.O. Box 85266 
San Diego, CA 92186-5266 
Telephone: (619) 645-2105 
Facsinlile: (619) 645-2061 

Attorneys for COlnplainant 

BEFORE THE 

BOARD OF PHARMACY 


DEP ARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA 


In the Matter of the Accusation Against: 

ELSHAER, ATEF MOHAMED 
1639 Regulus Street 
San Diego, CA 92111 

License No. RPH 50303 

Respondent. 

Administrative Case No. 2454 

ACCUSATION 

Complainant alleges: 


PARTIES 


1. Patricia F. Harris ("Complainant") brings this Accusation solely in her 

official capacity as the Executive Officer of the Board of Pharnlacy, Department of Consunler 

Affairs. 

2. On or about Septelnber 2, 1998, the Board of Phannacy issued License 

Nlllnber RPH 50303 to ELSHAER, ATEF MOHAMED ("Respondent"). The License was in 

full force and etlect at all tilnes relevant to the charges brought herein and will expire on March 

31, 2002, unless renewed . 
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JURISDICTION 

3. This Accusation is brought before the Board of Pharmacy ("Board"), 

under the authority of the following sections of the Business and Professions Code ("Code"). 

4. Section 4301 of the Code states: 

The Board shall take action against any holder of a license who is guilty of 

unprofessional conduct or whose license has been procured by fraud or misrepresentation or 

issued by Inistake. Unprofessional conduct shall include, but is not limited to, any of the 

following: 

" 

"(f) The commission of any act involving moral turpitude, dishonesty, fraud, 

deceit, or corruption, whether the act is comlnitted in the course of relations as a licensee 

or otherwise, and whether the act is a felony or misdemeanor or not. 

" 

"G) The violation of any of the statutes of this state or of the United States 

regulating controlled substances and dangerous drugs. 

"(1) The conviction of a crilne substantially related to the qualifications, functions, 

and duties of a licensee under Chapter 9 (comn1encing with Section 4000) of the Business 

and Professions Code. The record of conviction of a violation of Chapter 13 

(cOlnlnencing with Section 801) of Title 21 of the United States Code regUlating 

controlled substances or of a violation of the statutes of this state regUlating controlled 

substances or dangerous drugs shall be conclusive evidence of unprofessional conduct 

In all other cases, the record of conviction shall be conclusive evidence only of the fact 

that the conviction occurred. The board may inquire into the circumstances sunounding 

the cOlnn1ission of the crime, in order to fix the degree of discipline or, in the case of a 

conviction not involving controlled substances or dangerous drugs, to detern1ine if the 

conviction is of an offense substantially related to the qualifications, functions, and dutIes 

of a licensee under Chapter 9 (coI11mencing with Section 4000) of the Business and 

Professions Code. A plea or verdict of guilty or a conviction following a plea of nolo 
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contendere is deemed to be a conviction within the Ineaning of this provision. The board 

Inay take action when the time for appeal has elapsed, or the judgment of conviction has 

been affirmed on appeal or when an order granting probation is made suspending the 

ilnposition of sentence, irrespective of a subsequent order under Section 1203.4 of the 

Penal Code allowing the person to withdraw his or her plea of guilty and to enter a plea of 

not guilty, or setting aside the verdict of guilty, or dismissing the accusation, information, 

or indictment. 

"(0) Violating or attempting to violate, directly or indirectly, or assisting in or 

abetting the violation of or conspiring to violate any provision or term of Chapter 9 

(commencing with Section 4000) of the Business and P.rofessions Code or of the 

applicable federal and state laws and regulations governing pharmacy, including 

regulations established by the board. 

"(p) Actions or conduct that would have warranted denial ofa license." 

5. Business and Professions Code § 4022, entitled Dangerous drug; 

dangerous device, provides in pertinent part: 

"Dangerous drug l1 or "dangerous device" n1eans any drug or device unsafe for 

self-use, except veterinary drugs that are labeled as such, and includes the following: 

(a) Any drug that bears the legend: "Caution: federal law prohibits 

dispensing without prescription," "Rx only," or words of similar import ... , 

(c) Any other drug or device that by federal or state law can be lawfully 

dispensed only on prescription or furnished pursuant to Section 4006." 

6. Business & Professions Code§ 4060 entitled, Controlled Substances~ 

Possession states in pertinent part: 

ffNo person shall possess any controlled substance, except that furnished to 

a person upon the prescl"'lption of a physician, dentist, podiatrist, or veterinarian, or 

furnished pursuant to a drug order issued by a physician assistant pursuant to Section 

3502.1 or a nurse practitioner pursuant to Section 2836.1. T'h1s section shall not apply to 
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the possession of any controlled substance by a luanufacturer, wholesaler, pharmacy, 

physician, podiatrist, dentist, veterinarian, physician assistant, or nurse practitioner, when 

in stock in containers correctly labeled with the name and address of the supplier or 

producer." 

7. Section 125.3 of the Code states, in pertinent part, that the Board may 

request the administrative law judge to direct a licentiate found to have committed a violation or 

violations of the licensing act to pay a sum not to exceed the reasonable costs of the investigation 

and enforcement of the case. 

8. Health & Safety Code Section 11173, entitled Fraud, Deceit, 

Misrepresentation or False Statement; False Representation; False Label, states in pertinent part 

as follows: 

"(a) No person shall obtain or attempt to obtain controlled substances, or 

procure or attempt to procure the adluinistration of or prescription for controlled 

substances, (1) by fraud, deceit, misrepresentation, or subterfuge; or (2) by the 

concealment of a material fact. .. " 

9. Health & Safety Code § 11350, entitled, Possession of designated 

controlled substances~ punishment and fine states in pertinent part as follows: 

"(a) Except as otherwise provided in this division, every person who 

possesses (1) any controlled substance specified in subdivision (b) or (c), or 

paragraph (1) of subdivision (f) of Section 11054, specified in paragraph (14), 

(15), or (20) of subdivision (d) of Section 11054, or specified in subdivision (b) or 

(c) of Section 11055, or specified in subdivision (h) of Section 11056, or (2) any 

controlled substance classified in Schedule III. IV, or V which is a narcotic drug, 

unless upon the written prescription of a physician, dentist, podiatrist, or 

veterinarIan licensed to practice in this state, shall be punished by in1prisonment 

in the state prison, . ," 

/ 

/ 
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10. Penal Code Section 487, states in pertinent part that Grand theft is theft 

cOlnmitted in any of the following cases: 

"(a) When the nloney, labor, or real or personal property taken is of a 

value exceeding four hundred dollars ($400), ... " 


DRUGS 


11. Health & Safety § 11055, entitled Schedule II substances states in 

pertinent part: 

"(a) The controlled substances listed in this section are included in Schedule II. 

"(b) Any of the following substances, except those narcotic drugs listed in other 

schedules, whether produced directly or indirectly by extraction from substances of 

vegetable origin, or independently by means of chemical synthesis, or by combination of 

extraction and chemical synthesis: 

(1) Opium, opiate, and any salt, compound, derivative, or preparation of 

opium or opiate, with the exception of naloxone hydrochloride ... , 

(N) Oxycodone." 

12. Percocet and its generic counterpart, Roxicet, are brand names for 

oxycodone hydrocholoride which is a Schedule II controlled substance under Heath & Safety 

Code Section 11 055 (b) (l) (n). 

13. Ritalin is a brand naIne for methylphenidate hydrochloride which is a 

Schedule II controlled substance under Health & Safety Code Section 11055 (d) (6). 

14. Tylenol No.3 is a cOlnbination dnlg containing Acetanlinophen aIld not 

1110re than 1.8 grams of Codeine per 100 milliliters or not more than 90 milligrarrls per dosage 

unit with one or more active, nonnarcotic ingredients in recognized therapeutic anlounts, and is a 

Schedule III controlled substance as designated by Health & Safety Code Section 11056 (e) (2). 

15. Valium is a brand of diazepam and is a Schedule IV controlled substance 

as designated by Health & Safety Code Section 11057 (d) (8). 

5 
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FIRST CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE 

(Unprofessional Conduct Involving Moral Turpitude and Dishonesty) 

16. Respondent is subject to disciplinary action under section 4301(f) in that 

from the period of approximately July 7, 2000 through August 7, 2000, Respondent admitted to 

unlawfully taking tablets of various dangerous drugs and controlled substances from Rite Aid 

Phannacies where he worked. 

17. On or about August 8, 2000, Phannacy Manager for Rite Aid 5656, 

Jacqueline Yaggie, RPH, reviewed the perpetual inventory form for Roxicet (a generic brand of 

Percocet) and detennined that 417 Roxicet tablets were unaccounted for. As a result of inventory 

losses, Rite Aid conducted a video surveillance of Respondent while he worked as a pharmacist 

for Rite Aid. On August 26,2000, while working at Rite Aid, Respondent was video taped 

taking a handful of Roxicet tablets from a bottle and placing those tablets in his pants pocket. 

Following an inventory check before and after Respondent's August 26,2000, work shift, 

Pharmacy Manager, Jacqueline Yaggie, determined that 51 Roxicet tablets had been stolen by 

Respondent. This was documented and captured on video tape. 

18. On or about August 28, 2000, during a Rite Aid investigational interview, 

Respondent adn1itted to Rite Aid Loss Prevention Manager, Rick Trevino, that he had stolen as 

n1any as 600 Roxicet/Percocet tablets within the past few weeks from the various Rite Aid 

pharmacies where he was elnployed. 

19. On or about August 28, 2000, Detective K. Barnard of the San Diego 

Police Departlnent conducted an interview of Respondent. After providing Respondent with his 

Miranda warnings, and obtaining Respondent's permission to search his car and hOlne, additional 

evidence was uncovered. In searching Respondent's 2000 Toyota 4 Runner, Respondent told 

Detective Barnard that there were Roxicet/Percocet tablets in the front console of Respondent's 

Toyota. Detective Barnard confirmed Respondent's admission and confiscated the 

Roxicet/Percocet. t.ablets found in an envelope in the it'ont console of Respondent's Toyota. 
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20. On or about August 28,2000, Respondent admitted to Detective 1(. 

Barnard that he had ingested two Roxicet tablets while he was at work at Rite Aid and just prior 

to Barnard's arrival and the arrest of Respondent. 

21. Following the search of his car, Detective Barnard received Respondent's 

pennission to search his bedroom in a home located at 4403 Governor Drive, San Diego, CA. 

Respondent rented a single room froin the owner of the home. Detective Barnard found various 

dangerous drugs throughout Respondent's bedroom. Most notably he confiscated tablets of 

various controlled substances froin Respondent's dresser drawer. Those dangerous drugs were as 

follows: 

Percocet 


RoxicetiPercocet 


Ritalin 


Tylenol #3 


Valium. 


22. As a result of Respondent's August 28, 2000, admissions and arrest, 

Respondent entered into a plea agreelnent. On January 24, 2001, in the criminal case of The 

People ofthe State ofCal(fornia vs. AtefMohamed Elshaer, Case No. CD 155463, Respondent 

pled guilty to a felony under Penal Code Section 487.1, Grand Theft, for stealing in excess of 

$400.00 of drugs fron1 his fonner elnployer, Rite Aid. Respondent was given three years 

probation, 120 days incarceration stayed, 10 days community service, and submission of random 

drug testing. 

SECOND CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE 

(Unprofessional Conduct Involving Violations of Law 

Regulating Controlled Substances) 

23. Respondent is subject to disClpi inary action under section 4301 (j) because 

he violated sections 4022 and 4060 related to control of dangerous drugs and controlled 

substances as set forth in paragraphs 17 through 22 above which are incorporated by reference as 

though fully set forth herein. 
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THIRD CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE 


(Unprofessional Conduct for Conviction of Crime Substantially Related 


to the Functions of a Pharmacist) 


24. Respondent is subject to disciplinary action under section 4301(1) for 

conviction of a crime substantially related to the qualifications, functions, and duties of a licensee 

in that Respondent pled guilty to felony theft of drugs as set forth in paragraphs 17 through 22 

above which are incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein. 

FOURTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE 

(Unprofessional Conduct for Violations of the Regulations 

of the Board of Pharmacy?"" 

25. Respondent is subject to disciplinary action under section 4301(0) for 

violating any provision of the Board of Pharmacy Regulations, or state laws governing pharmacy 

in that Respondent stole and consumed various dangerous drugs and controlled substances as set 

forth in paragraphs 17 through 22 above and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth 

herein. 

FIFTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE 


(Unprofessional Conduct for Actions That Would Have 


Warranted Denial of a License) 


26. Respondent is subject to disciplinary action under section 4301(p) in that 

Respondent's actions would have warranted the denial of a pharmacist license. Respondent 

adn1itted to stealing and consuming dangerous drugs and controlled substances~ and thereafter 

pled guilty to Grand Theft, this conduct clearly would have warranted the denial of his license as 

set forth in paragraphs 17 through 22 above which are incorporated by reference as though fully 

set forth herein. 
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PRAYER 

WHEREFORE, COll1plainant requests that a hearing be held on the matters herein 

alleged, and that following the hearing, the Board of Pharn1acy issue a decision: 

1. Revoking or suspending License Number RPH 50303, issued to 

ELSHAER, ATEF MOHAMED; 

2. Ordering ELSHAER, ATEF MOHAMED to pay the Board of Pharmacy 

the reasonable costs of the investigation and enforcelnent of this case, pursuant to Business and 

Professions Code section 125.3; 

3. Taking such other and further action as deemed necessary and proper. 

PATRICIA F. HARRIS 
Executive Officer 
Board of Phannacy 
Department of Consumer Affairs 
State of California 
COll1plainant 


